

# DEFENSE HEALTH CARE

# DOD Should Improve Monitoring of TRICARE Beneficiaries' Access to Prescription Drugs

**Report to Congressional Committees** 

February 2025 GAO-25-107187 United States Government Accountability Office

Accessible Version

# GAO Highlights

View GAO-25-107187. For more information, contact Sharon Silas at (202) 512-7114 or SilasS@gao.gov. Highlights of GAO-25-107187, a report to congressional committees February 2025

## DEFENSE HEALTH CARE

# DOD Should Improve Monitoring of TRICARE Beneficiaries' Access to Prescription Drugs

#### Why GAO Did This Study

DOD provides health care benefits, including a pharmacy benefit, to over 9 million beneficiaries through TRICARE. Eligible beneficiaries include active duty service members, retirees, and their dependents. DOD's DHA administers the TRICARE pharmacy program through a contract. In January 2023, pharmacy services started under a new contract. Some stakeholders expressed concern that changes to the program could affect beneficiaries' access to prescription drugs.

The Senate report accompanying the National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 2024 includes a provision for GAO to review significant changes to the TRICARE pharmacy program. This report describes key changes DHA made to the program that could affect beneficiaries' timely access to prescription drugs between January 1, 2021, and June 30, 2024. It also describes how key changes affected beneficiaries' access and examines how DHA monitors beneficiary access to prescription drugs.

GAO reviewed TRICARE pharmacy contracts, DHA documents, and analyzed contractor data. GAO also interviewed DHA officials, contractor representatives, and beneficiary and pharmacy stakeholder groups.

#### What GAO Recommends

GAO is making two recommendations to DHA to improve its monitoring of the pharmacy contractor, including auditing contractor-reported data for accuracy. DOD partially concurred with one recommendation and concurred with the other. GAO continues to believe the recommendations are warranted, as discussed in this report.

#### What GAO Found

The Department of Defense's (DOD) TRICARE pharmacy program allows beneficiaries to obtain prescription drugs from DOD-operated military pharmacies, retail pharmacies, and via mail order.

DOD's Defense Health Agency (DHA) made certain key changes to the program between January 1, 2021, and June 30, 2024, that could affect beneficiaries' timely access to prescription drugs. One of these key changes was lowering the required minimum number of pharmacies in the retail network from 50,000 to 35,000, resulting in a drop in the number of retail pharmacies accepting TRICARE. DHA officials told GAO that a smaller network could result in government savings. Contractor data indicate that in the third quarter of 2024, there were an average of 42,550 pharmacies in the network, 13,165 fewer than in the third quarter of 2022, the quarter before the TRICARE contractor implemented the retail network change.



#### Average Number of TRICARE Retail Network Pharmacies by Quarter, Jan. 2022 to Sept. 2024

•••••• Minimum required number of pharmacies, Fifth Generation contract

Source: GAO analysis of Defense Health Agency contractor data. | GAO-25-107187

#### Accessible Data for Average Number of TRICARE Retail Network Pharmacies by Quarter, Jan. 2022 to Sept. 2024

Year	Quarter	Number of retail pharmacies (in thousands)	
2022	Q1	55.9393	
2022	Q2	55.8063	
2022	Q3	55.715	
2022	Q4	40.4587	
2023	Q1	42.1537	
2023	Q2	42.549	
2023	Q3	42.5697	
2023	Q4	42.458	
2024	Q1	42.478	
2024	Q2	42.911	
2024	Q3	42.033	

- Minimum required number of pharmacies, Fourth Generation contract: 35.000
- Minimum required number of pharmacies, Fifth Generation contract: 50.000

Source: GAO analysis of Defense Health Agency contractor data. I GAO-25-107187

Note: In the fourth quarter of 2022, the Defense Health Agency waived retail network size requirements while the TRICARE contractor implemented a network change.

As of the second quarter of 2024, contractor data indicate that 98 percent of beneficiaries were within a 15-minute drive of a network pharmacy, which met a DHA requirement for beneficiary proximity to retail pharmacies. However, GAO's analysis of contractor data indicate that the decrease in the number of retail pharmacies likely affected some beneficiaries. For example, about 380,000 beneficiaries, about 4 percent, may have had to find a new pharmacy when a pharmacy they previously used left the network. DHA officials told GAO they viewed this as a reduction in choice of preferred pharmacy, not a loss of access.

DHA officials told GAO they primarily monitor beneficiary access by reviewing contractor-provided monthly reports. Although DHA's oversight plans for the pharmacy contract call for the agency to audit the accuracy of data included in these reports, DHA officials said they had not done so. GAO found inaccuracies in some reports, including reports on use of specialty drugs. Periodically auditing contractor data will provide DHA with the information it needs to better ensure TRICARE beneficiaries' continued access to prescription drugs.

# Contents

GAO Highlights	ii
Why GAO Did This Study	ii
What GAO Recommends	ii
What GAO Found	ii
Letter	1
Background	4
DHA Lowered the Required Minimum Number of Retail Pharn Certain Specialty Drugs	nacies and Added a Requirement for Obtaining 10
DHA Primarily Relies on Contractor Data to Monitor Certain A Verified the Accuracy of These Data	spects of Beneficiary Access but Has Not 16
Some Beneficiaries May Have Had to Find a New Pharmacy of	or Travel Farther to a Network Pharmacy 19
Conclusions	23
Recommendations for Executive Action	23
Agency Comments and Our Evaluation	23
Appendix I Other Changes to the TRICARE Pharmacy Progra	m 25
Appendix II Comments from the Department of Defense	27
Accessible Text for Appendix II 31	Comments from the Department of Defense
Appendix III GAO Contact & Staff Acknowledgments	35
GAO Contacts	35
Staff Acknowledgments	35

Tables

Table 1: Potential Beneficiary Copayments for Certain Brand Name Maintenance Specialty Drugs throug         TRICARE Pharmacies in March 2024	 14
Table 2: Monthly Pharmacy Network Proximity Standards in the TRICARE Pharmacy Services, Fourth (TPharm4) and Fifth (TPharm5) Generation Contracts	20
Table 3: Examples of TRICARE Pharmacy Network Copayments, 2024	25
Figures	

Average Number of TRICARE Retail Network Pharmacies by Quarter, Jan. 2022 to Sept. 2024	iii
Accessible Data for Average Number of TRICARE Retail Network Pharmacies by Quarter, Jan. 2022 to Sept. 2024	) iii

Figure 1: Selected Roles and Responsibilities of Certain Entities Involved in Providing TRICARE Beneficiaries Access to Prescription Drugs	5
Accessible Data for Figure 1: Selected Roles and Responsibilities of Certain Entities Involved in Providing TRICARE Beneficiaries Access to Prescription Drugs	9 6
Figure 2: Relationships between Certain Entities Involved in Providing TRICARE Beneficiaries Access to Prescription Drugs	7
Accessible Data for Figure 2: Relationships between Certain Entities Involved in Providing TRICARE Beneficiaries Access to Prescription Drugs	8
Figure 3: TRICARE Pharmacy Services, Fifth Generation (TPharm5) Contract Development and Implementation Timeline	9
Accessible Data for Figure 3: TRICARE Pharmacy Services, Fifth Generation (TPharm5) Contract Development and Implementation Timeline	10
Figure 4: Average Number of Independent and Chain Retail Pharmacies in the TRICARE Network by Quarter, January 2021 to September 2024	11
Accessible Data for Figure 4: Average Number of Independent and Chain Retail Pharmacies in the TRICARE Network by Quarter, January 2021 to September 2024	12
Figure 5: Number of 30-day Specialty Drug Prescriptions Dispensed by TRICARE Pharmacy Type by Quarter, January 2021 through September 2024	15
Accessible Data for Figure 5: Number of 30-day Specialty Drug Prescriptions Dispensed by TRICARE Pharmacy Type by Quarter, January 2021 through September 2024	16
Figure 6: Average Number of Beneficiaries Outside of DHA's Distance-Based Retail Network Proximity Standard by Quarter, January 2021 through March 2024	21
Accessible Data for Figure 6: Average Number of Beneficiaries Outside of DHA's Distance-Based Retail Network Proximity Standard by Quarter, January 2021 through March 2024	22

This is a work of the U.S. government and is not subject to copyright protection in the United States. The published product may be reproduced and distributed in its entirety without further permission from GAO. However, because this work may contain copyrighted images or other material, permission from the copyright holder may be necessary if you wish to reproduce this material separately.

#### Abbreviations

Abbreviation	Definition
DHA	Defense Health Agency
DOD	Department of Defense
TPharm4	TRICARE Pharmacy Services, Fourth Generation
TPharm5	TRICARE Pharmacy Services, Fifth Generation

U.S. GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILITY OFFICE

441 G St. N.W. Washington, DC 20548

February 13, 2025

The Honorable Roger Wicker Chairman The Honorable Jack Reed Ranking Member Committee on Armed Services United States Senate

The Honorable Mike Rogers Chairman The Honorable Adam Smith Ranking Member Committee on Armed Services House of Representatives

The Department of Defense (DOD) offers a full range of medical care and services, including a pharmacy benefit, to over 9 million eligible beneficiaries, including active duty service members, retirees, and their eligible family members. DOD's Defense Health Agency (DHA) oversees the TRICARE pharmacy program, which allows beneficiaries to obtain prescription drugs from DOD-operated military treatment facility pharmacies, at retail pharmacies, or through a mail order program. TRICARE covers a range of prescription drugs from traditional medications to high-cost prescription medications known as specialty drugs, which include injectable and infused medications that are more difficult to distribute and administer. In fiscal year 2023, TRICARE spent over \$8 billion on prescription drugs for about 6.6 million (70 percent) of its beneficiaries.

Like many private health plans in the U.S., DHA contracts with a pharmacy benefit manager to administer TRICARE's pharmacy program. This contractor has a range of responsibilities, including developing and maintaining a network of retail pharmacies and operating a mail order pharmacy. In August 2021, DHA awarded its most recent pharmacy contract for \$4.28 billion for services beginning January 1, 2023. The cost of the TRICARE pharmacy program contract does not include the cost of drugs. The current contractor has administered the TRICARE pharmacy program since 2003.

In awarding this contract, DHA reported that it had made changes to the TRICARE pharmacy program with the goal of improving service for beneficiaries and saving money for military families and taxpayers by creating a more efficient, competitively priced pharmacy network. In doing so, TRICARE, like many private health plans in the U.S., has signaled its interest in better managing trends including the increasing cost of prescription drugs and retail pharmacy closures.<sup>1</sup> Military service organizations and other stakeholders have expressed concerns that any changes to the pharmacy program could affect beneficiaries' access by limiting their ability to obtain

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Over the last decade, increased spending on prescription drugs among private health plans and TRICARE alike has been driven by growth in the use of high-cost specialty drugs. For example, in fiscal year 2023, specialty drugs accounted for less than 1 percent of all TRICARE prescriptions and yet comprised 52 percent of total spending on prescription drugs. At the same time, TRICARE and private health plans have also been seeking to mitigate other changes in the retail pharmacy industry, including increased consolidation and closures, leaving fewer retail pharmacies available to meet patient needs.

prescription drugs in a timely manner. Factors such as physical proximity to a pharmacy, coverage, and cost can affect one's access to prescription drugs.

The Senate Armed Services Committee Report accompanying the National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 2024 includes a provision for GAO to review any significant changes DOD has made to the benefits or coverage for the TRICARE pharmacy benefits program over the last 3 years (since 2021).<sup>2</sup> In this report we:

- 1. describe key changes DHA made to the TRICARE pharmacy program that could affect beneficiaries' timely access to prescription drugs,
- 2. examine how DHA monitors beneficiary access to the TRICARE pharmacy program, and
- 3. describe how key changes to the TRICARE pharmacy program may have affected beneficiary access to prescription drugs.

To describe key changes DHA made to the TRICARE pharmacy program, we reviewed pharmacy program policies, handbooks, manuals, evaluations, and contracts in effect from January 1, 2021, to June 30, 2024, to identify any changes to the program or contract. These included the TRICARE Pharmacy Services, Fourth Generation (TPharm4) contract, which ended pharmacy services in December 2022 and the TRICARE Pharmacy Services, Fifth Generation (TPharm5) contract, which started pharmacy services beginning in January 2023. We also analyzed data provided by DHA's contractor, such as data on network size, beneficiary access, and use of prescription drugs (e.g., number of specialty drugs dispensed from different types of pharmacies) from January 1, 2021, to June 30, 2024.<sup>3</sup> We examined these data to identify any shifts or spikes in beneficiary access that could have indicated key changes implemented during this period. To gather stakeholder perspectives on key changes, we interviewed representatives from a nongeneralizable selection of 11 stakeholder groups, representing a variety of beneficiary and pharmacy perspectives.<sup>4</sup> We selected these groups to obtain a range of perspectives, including beneficiaries with rare or complex conditions and representatives from chain and independent pharmacies.

We defined key changes as changes DHA made to the TRICARE program and contract between January 1, 2021, to June 30, 2024, that could directly affect TRICARE beneficiaries' ability to obtain prescription drugs in a timely manner within the U.S. To describe the reasons for the key changes we identified, we interviewed DHA officials and contractor representatives. We confirmed our identification of key changes and the reasons

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>S. Rep. No. 118-58, at 167-68 (2023).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>In this report, we refer to data from DHA's TPharm5 contractor as contractor data.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>We interviewed pharmacy representatives from AlignRx, Community Oncology Association, EPIC Pharmacies, Inc., National Association of Chain Drug Stores, National Association of Specialty Pharmacy, National Community Pharmacist Association, and Senior Care Pharmacy Coalition. Through these interviews, we spoke with nine individuals who reported that they collectively owned 136 retail pharmacies.

We interviewed beneficiary representatives from Exceptional Families of the Military, Military Officers of America Association, National Military Families Association, and TRICARE for Kids.

for the changes with DHA. Our review also identified other changes to the TRICARE pharmacy program during this time that did not meet our definition of a key change.<sup>5</sup> Appendix I summarizes selected other changes.

To examine how DHA has monitored beneficiary access to the TRICARE pharmacy program, we focused on monitoring of beneficiary access with respect to the key changes we identified. To do so, we reviewed relevant laws and regulations, TPharm4 and TPharm5 contracts and other procurement related materials, and DHA policies to identify retail pharmacy network and specialty drug access requirements and monitoring responsibilities.<sup>6</sup> We analyzed data DHA uses to monitor access, including monthly reports on two contractually defined access standards the TRICARE pharmacy contractor is required to meet on 1) the size of the retail pharmacy network and 2) beneficiaries' proximity to the nearest network retail pharmacy. We also reviewed pharmacy industry standards related to monitoring beneficiary access to specialty drugs.<sup>7</sup> We interviewed DHA officials about monitoring processes, procedures, and the actions they have taken to monitor beneficiary access to the retail pharmacy network and specialty drugs. We assessed DHA's monitoring processes against its *Quality Assurance Surveillance Plan* for the TPharm5 contract, federal internal control standards related to monitoring program policy.<sup>8</sup>

To describe the effects of the key changes on beneficiaries, we reviewed contractor data on beneficiary access from January 1, 2021, to June 30, 2024. To obtain illustrative examples of the effects of key changes on beneficiaries, we interviewed representatives from the 11 stakeholder groups previously discussed.

For each objective, we assessed the reliability of data by reviewing related documentation, interviewing knowledgeable DHA officials and contractor representatives, and performing electronic testing to identify any missing data or obvious errors. Based on these steps, we determined that the data were sufficiently reliable for the purposes of our reporting objectives.

We conducted this performance audit from November 2023 to February 2025 in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain sufficient, appropriate evidence to provide a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives. We believe that the evidence obtained provides a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives.

<sup>7</sup>Pharmacy industry standards include those established by the Utilization Review Accreditation Commission, which sets standards that specialty pharmacies it accredits are required to meet.

<sup>8</sup>Federal internal control standards state that agencies should establish and operate monitoring activities to monitor the internal control system and evaluate the results (Principle 16). See GAO, *Standards for Internal Control in the Federal Government*, GAO-14-704G (Washington, D.C.: Sept. 10, 2014).

Department of Defense, Defense Health Agency Procedural Instruction 6025.08 Pharmacy Enterprise Activity (Aug. 14, 2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>For example, DHA officials also told us that a change in their calculation of beneficiary proximity to a retail pharmacy was significant. However, because this change did not directly affect beneficiary access, we did not include it in our list of key changes for this review.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>The definition of specialty drug varies across insurers. DHA has adopted guidelines for the designation of a drug as a specialty drug. These include 1) one or more of the following clinical factors: difficult to administer, special handling or storage, intense monitoring, high risk of adverse drug events, frequent dose adjustments, Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy programs in place, benefits from ongoing training for patients, class not widely used in practice, and other drugs in the class are designated as specialty; 2) the cost of the drug to DHA falls in the top 1 percent of spending (cost per 30-day supply); or 3) on further review, designation of the drug as specialty continues to provide value to the patient, DHA, or both. For example, Firmagon, indicated for treatment of advanced prostate cancer and delivered by injection, is considered a specialty drug.

## Background

#### **TRICARE** Pharmacy Program

The mission of the TRICARE pharmacy program is to provide beneficiaries with the prescription drugs they need when they need them in a safe, easy, and affordable way. To accomplish this, DHA contracts with a pharmacy benefit manager to implement the benefit design, which is determined by the agency. This contractor is responsible for, among other things, maintaining a retail pharmacy network, which involves negotiating reimbursement terms with retail pharmacies for drugs dispensed to TRICARE beneficiaries. The contractor is also to operate a mail order pharmacy; process payments to retail pharmacies for filling prescriptions for TRICARE beneficiaries; and report a range of data to DHA, including claims, use, and access data.

Beneficiaries can obtain covered prescription drugs through military, retail (network or out-of-network), and TRICARE mail order pharmacies. Beneficiaries may be responsible for paying a portion of the costs of their prescription drugs to pharmacies in the form of copayments.<sup>9</sup> See figure 1 for an explanation of the roles and responsibilities of certain entities involved in TRICARE's pharmacy program.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Copayment amounts are set in law at 10 U.S.C. § 1074g(a)(6) and depend on a beneficiary's active duty status, a drug's formulary status, whether a drug is generic or name brand, and where a beneficiary fills the prescription. For example, military pharmacies do not charge a copayment for most drugs. Beneficiaries who fill prescriptions at out-of-network pharmacies must pay full price for their prescription and submit claims for reimbursement, which are subject to applicable deductibles or out-of-network cost-shares and copayments. See Department of Defense, *TRICARE Pharmacy Program Handbook* (Jan. 2024).

# Figure 1: Selected Roles and Responsibilities of Certain Entities Involved in Providing TRICARE Beneficiaries Access to Prescription Drugs

Entity		Roles and Responsibilities
	Defense Health Agency (DHA)	DHA is the government agency responsible for ensuring that eligible current and retired service members and their families have access to the medications they need. DHA contracts with a pharmacy benefit manager to administer the TRICARE pharmacy program. DHA also reimburses pharmacies for prescriptions filled. DHA makes decisions about key aspects of the program such as the number of retail pharmacies that must be in the TRICARE retail network and determines what drugs will be covered by the TRICARE program. DHA procures drugs from the national prime vendor to restock military and mail order pharmacies and reimburses Defense Logistics Agency for those costs. <sup>a</sup>
	TRICARE pharmacy contractor	The TRICARE pharmacy contractor is a pharmacy benefit manager that administers the TRICARE pharmacy program to provide eligible beneficiaries with access to prescription drugs. The contractor is responsible for 1) maintaining a retail pharmacy network, including determining which pharmacies are in the network, contracting with pharmacies, and reimbursing pharmacies; 2) operating TRICARE's mail order pharmacy and receiving drug replenishments from the national prime vendor; 3) processing claims for military pharmacies; and 4) reporting data to DHA.
	National prime vendor	The national prime vendor is a drug wholesaler that obtains prescription drugs at discounted prices for TRICARE's military and mail order pharmacies. <sup>a</sup> The Defense Logistics Agency administers the contract with the national prime vendor.
	Military pharmacies	Military pharmacies are DHA-operated pharmacies in medical treatment facilities on or near military bases across the country. There were nearly 300 such pharmacies across the United States in November 2024. The TRICARE pharmacy contractor processes claims for prescription drugs filled at military pharmacies.
	Retail pharmacies	Retail pharmacies include privately owned chain or independent pharmacies that offer prescriptions to the public at retail prices. The TRICARE pharmacy contractor maintains a network of retail pharmacies. <sup>b</sup> Beneficiaries may also obtain prescription drugs from out-of-network retail pharmacies, but must pay the full prescription cost up front and may submit a claim to the pharmacy contractor for reimbursement.
	Mail order pharmacy	The mail order pharmacy is a contractor-operated mail order pharmacy that provides home delivery of prescription drugs to TRICARE beneficiaries.

Source: GAO analysis and illustration of DHA information. | GAO-25-107187

Entity	Roles and Responsibilities
Defense Health Agency (DHA)	DHA is the government agency responsible for ensuring that eligible current and retired service members and their families have access to the medications they need. DHA contracts with a pharmacy benefit manager to administer the TRICARE pharmacy program. DHA also reimburses pharmacies for prescriptions filled. DHA makes decisions about key aspects of the program such as the number of retail pharmacies that must be in the TRICARE retail network and determines what drugs will be covered by the TRICARE program. DHA procures drugs from the national prime vendor to restock military and mail order pharmacies and reimburses Defense Logistics Agency for those costs. <sup>a</sup>
TRICARE Pharmacy contractor	The TRICARE pharmacy contractor is a pharmacy benefit manager that administers the TRICARE pharmacy program to provide eligible beneficiaries with access to prescription drugs. The contractor is responsible for 1) maintaining a retail pharmacy network, including determining which pharmacies are in the network, subcontracting with pharmacies, and reimbursing pharmacies, 2) operating TRICARE's mail order pharmacy and receiving drug replenishments from the national prime vendor, 3) processing claims for military pharmacies, and 4) reporting data to DHA.
National prime vendor	The national prime vendor is a drug wholesaler that obtains prescription drugs at discounted prices for TRICARE's military and mail order pharmacies. <sup>a</sup> The Defense Logistics Agency administers the contract with the national prime vendor.
Military pharmacies	Military pharmacies are DHA-operated pharmacies in medical treatment facilities on or near military bases across the country. There were nearly 300 such pharmacies across the United States in November 2024. The TRICARE pharmacy contractor processes claims for prescription drugs filled at military pharmacies.
Retail pharmacies	Retail pharmacies include privately owned chain or independent pharmacies that offer prescriptions to the public at retail prices. The TRICARE pharmacy contractor maintains a network of retail pharmacies. <sup>b</sup> Beneficiaries may also obtain prescription drugs from out-of-network retail pharmacies, but must pay the full prescription cost up front and may submit a claim to the pharmacy contractor for reimbursement.
Mail order pharmacy	The mail order pharmacy is a contractor-operated mail order pharmacy that provides home delivery of prescription drugs to TRICARE beneficiaries.

Accessible Data for Figure 1: Selected Roles and Responsibilities of Certain Entities Involved in Providing TRICARE Beneficiaries Access to Prescription Drugs

Source: GAO analysis and illustration of DHA information. I GA0-25-107187

<sup>a</sup>By law, the national prime vendor can obtain prescription drugs at prices that are generally 24 percent lower than nonfederal average manufacturer prices for non-generic products. See 38 U.S.C. § 8126(a)(2).

<sup>b</sup>TRICARE's pharmacy contractor maintains a retail network by contracting with pharmacies directly or through pharmacy services administrative organizations, which represent independent pharmacies.

DHA coordinates with entities to procure prescription drugs and make them available to beneficiaries through military, retail, and mail order pharmacies. See figure 2 for a diagram of the relationship between certain entities involved in the TRICARE pharmacy program.



Figure 2: Relationships between Certain Entities Involved in Providing TRICARE Beneficiaries Access to Prescription Drugs

Source: GAO analysis and illustration of DHA information. | GAO-25-107187

# Accessible Data for Figure 2: Relationships between Certain Entities Involved in Providing TRICARE Beneficiaries Access to Prescription Drugs

- 1. The Defense Health Agency (DHA) contracts with a pharmacy contractor to administer the TRICARE pharmacy program.
- 2. DHA obtains drugs from the national prime vendor to resupply those drugs dispensed at military and mail order pharmacies.<sup>a</sup>
- 3. The TRICARE pharmacy contractor
  - a. processes claims for prescription drugs filled at military pharmacies,
  - b. operates a mail order pharmacy,
  - c. maintains a network of retail pharmacies and processes payments to those pharmacies on behalf of DHA.<sup>b</sup>
- 4. Beneficiaries obtain drugs via military, mail order, or retail pharmacies. Beneficiaries may be responsible for a portion of the costs of prescription drugs.

Source: GAO analysis and illustration of DHA information. I GAO-25-107187

<sup>a</sup>To resupply prescription drugs dispensed from military and mail order pharmacies; DHA reimburses the Defense Logistics Agency for the cost of drugs purchased through an intermediary known as a national prime vendor. The national prime vendor provides drugs at a fixed percentage discount off the lowest price otherwise available for each drug. By law, these prices are generally 24 percent lower than nonfederal average manufacturer prices for non-generic products. See 38 U.S.C. § 8126(a)(2).

<sup>b</sup>DHA's pharmacy contractor acts as a fiscal intermediary. DHA makes government funds available to its pharmacy contractor to make direct payments to retail pharmacies.

#### **TRICARE** Pharmacy Contracting and Monitoring

Key steps in DHA's TRICARE pharmacy contracting process include strategy development, acquisition planning, proposal solicitations, negotiation, and contract awarding. Delivery of pharmacy services for DHA's TPharm4 contract was in effect from May 1, 2015, to December 31, 2022. In preparation for the next contract period, DHA released a request for proposals for the TPharm5 contract in July 2020. DHA awarded the TPharm5 contract in August 2021. With DHA's permission, the contractor implemented a TPharm5 retail pharmacy network change in October 2022 and began delivery of services on January 1, 2023.<sup>10</sup> DHA has an option to extend TPharm5 services through December 31, 2029. (See figure 3.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>Contractor representatives told us that they made these changes in October 2022 to achieve the best value for the government and minimize the risk of overwhelming beneficiaries and retail pharmacies that are often occupied with benefit changes for non-TRICARE health plans in January of each year.



Source: GAO analysis of Defense Health Agency (DHA) documents. | GAO-25-107187

# Accessible Data for Figure 3: TRICARE Pharmacy Services, Fifth Generation (TPharm5) Contract Development and Implementation Timeline

- July 13, 2020: DHA releases request for proposals
- October 23, 2020: Contractor proposals due to DHA
- August 5, 2021: DHA awards the TPharm5 contract
- October 24, 2022: Contractor implements retail network change
- January 1, 2023: Contractor starts delivery of pharmacy services under the TPharm5 contract

#### Source: GAO analysis of Defense Health Agency (DHA) documents. I GAO-25-107187

DHA is responsible for managing the pharmacy program and monitoring contractor performance, including reviewing contractor data to ensure they are meeting standards. The TRICARE pharmacy contract includes contractor responsibilities, reporting requirements, and performance standards. Performance standards are requirements that the contractor must meet to avoid a financial penalty or must exceed to earn a financial incentive. For example, DHA monitors its contactor's ability to meet two performance standards related to beneficiary access: 1) the size of the retail pharmacy network and 2) beneficiaries' proximity to the nearest network pharmacy.<sup>11</sup>

## DHA Lowered the Required Minimum Number of Retail Pharmacies and Added a Requirement for Obtaining Certain Specialty Drugs

We found that DHA made two key changes to the TRICARE pharmacy program between January 1, 2021, and June 30, 2024. They are 1) lowering the required minimum number of pharmacies in the retail network and 2) adding a specialty pharmacy and a requirement related to how beneficiaries access certain specialty drugs.<sup>12</sup>

#### DHA Lowered the Required Minimum Number of Pharmacies in the Retail Network

Under the TPharm5 contract, DHA lowered the required minimum number of retail pharmacies in the TRICARE network by 15,000, which equates to 25 percent of the required minimum number of pharmacies in the TPharm4 contract. Specifically, DHA had required the contractor to ensure that there was a minimum of 50,000 retail pharmacies in the TRICARE network through 2022.<sup>13</sup> DHA lowered this requirement to a minimum of 35,000 pharmacies in the TPharm5 contract, with delivery of pharmacy services beginning in January 2023. DHA officials said that a smaller network would enhance the contractor's ability to negotiate lower

Letter

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>These standards are described in more detail later in this report.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>We also identified other changes to the TRICARE pharmacy program that did not meet our definition of a key change. See appendix I for an overview of some of these changes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>In-network pharmacies are those that the TRICARE pharmacy contractor contracts with to provide pharmacy services to TRICARE beneficiaries for predetermined copayments. At non-network pharmacies, beneficiaries must pay the full cost of a drug up front, then submit a claim for reimbursement.

reimbursement rates with retail pharmacies, which could result in government savings, a goal of the TPharm5 contract.<sup>14</sup>

As a result of the lower minimum number of pharmacies in the network, the number of retail pharmacies in the TRICARE network declined, but still remained above the minimum of 35,000 pharmacies the TPharm5 contract required. The largest reduction in the number of retail pharmacies in the TRICARE pharmacy network occurred between September and October 2022, when the network decreased from 55,762 pharmacies to 41,108 pharmacies (a 26 percent reduction), according to our analysis of contractor data. Four pharmacy stakeholder groups we interviewed said some pharmacies decided to leave the network because of unfavorable reimbursement terms proposed to them by the pharmacy contractor.<sup>15</sup> Contractor representatives told us that, in December 2022 and again in November 2023, they asked pharmacies that had recently left TRICARE to reconsider their decision. As of October 2024, the TRICARE network included 42,457 pharmacies, according to contractor data. (See figure 4.)





Source: GAO analysis of Defense Health Agency contractor data. | GAO-25-107187

<sup>14</sup>DHA officials told us that, in January 2025, the agency expects to complete an assessment of the financial impact of the TPharm5 contract through fiscal year 2024.

<sup>15</sup>The pharmacy contractor independently negotiates the terms of its contacts with retail pharmacies; DHA does not have contractual privity with the pharmacies and does not participate in related negotiations.

Year	Quarter	Chain pharmacies	Independent pharmacies
2021	Q1	28762.7	26882.3
2021	Q2	28752.3	26710.3
2021	Q3	28795.3	26715.3
2021	Q4	30396.7	25206
2022	Q1	33440	21957.3
2022	Q2	33266	21999
2022	Q3	33171.7	22003.3
2022	Q4	32194.3	7725
2023	Q1	30442.3	11195
2023	Q2	30709.7	11321.3
2023	Q3	30561	11492.7
2023	Q4	30098.7	11848
2024	Q1	29519	12446
2024	Q2	29307.3	13087
2024	Q3	29009	13024

#### Accessible Data for Figure 4: Average Number of Independent and Chain Retail Pharmacies in the TRICARE Network by Quarter, January 2021 to September 2024

• Minimum required number of pharmacies, Fourth Generation contract: 35.000

#### Minimum required number of pharmacies, Fifth Generation contract: 50.000

Source: GAO analysis of Defense Health Agency contractor data. I GAO-25-107187

Notes: In July 2022 (Q3), the Defense Health Agency (DHA) granted the TRICARE pharmacy contractor a waiver to the requirement of maintaining a minimum of 50,000 pharmacies in the retail network while it was implementing the TPharm5 network change.

This figure does not include the number of pharmacies operated by the Department of Veterans Affairs and Indian Health Service, which ranged between 510 to 542 across this time. DHA does not count these pharmacies toward the minimum number of network retail pharmacies that its contractor must maintain.

<sup>a</sup>Independent pharmacies include those represented by pharmacy services administrative organizations. According to DHA, these organizations include Arete Pharmacy Network/AlignRx, Cardinal Health/ Medicap Pharmacy/Medicine Shoppe, EPIC, and Health-Mart Atlas/Strategic Health Alliance.

Nearly all the pharmacies that left the TRICARE network in October 2022 were independent pharmacies.<sup>16</sup> Our analysis of contractor data indicates that, between September and October 2022, the number of independent pharmacies in the TRICARE pharmacy network dropped from 22,055 to 7,575, a loss of 14,480 pharmacies. Since then, some independent pharmacies rejoined the TRICARE network. As of October 2024, there were 13,191 independent pharmacies in the TRICARE network, about 40 percent fewer than the 22,055 independent pharmacies that were in the network in September 2022, according to our analysis of contractor data. In contrast, from January 2021 through October 2024, the number of chain pharmacies ranged from about 28,800 to 33,500.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>The contract does not specify that a minimum number of independent pharmacies be in the TRICARE retail pharmacy network.

# DHA Introduced a Specialty Pharmacy and Requirement for Beneficiaries Obtaining Certain Specialty Drugs

In January 2023, DHA introduced a specialty pharmacy to the TRICARE network to enhance beneficiaries' access to specialty drugs.<sup>17</sup> DHA officials told us they believed that introducing a specialty pharmacy would support the growing needs of its beneficiaries for specialty drugs.<sup>18</sup> In addition, DHA officials told us that the specialty pharmacy would offer beneficiaries enhanced access to personalized clinical services, such as 24-hour access to clinical care teams, which can include specialty-trained pharmacists and nurses.

DHA also increased beneficiaries' access to specialty drugs by allowing them to obtain specialty drugs at any network retail pharmacy. Prior to January 1, 2023, TRICARE beneficiaries could obtain specialty drugs from military pharmacies, the contractor-operated mail order pharmacy, or select retail pharmacies. However, DHA officials told us that not all traditional pharmacies stock or can readily obtain certain specialty drugs, which can limit a beneficiary's ability to access them when needed.

<sup>17</sup>Unlike traditional pharmacies that focus on providing a range of prescription drugs for beneficiaries, specialty pharmacies focus on filling prescriptions for specialty drugs, which include those that need special storage and handling. Because of this focus, specialty pharmacies generally have access to a wider array of specialty drugs than traditional pharmacies.

<sup>18</sup>For example, between the first quarter of 2021 and the third quarter of 2024, beneficiaries' use of specialty drugs increased 39 percent, when adjusted for DHA's reclassification of certain drugs as specialty drugs in January 2023.

#### DHA's Coverage of Specialty Drugs

The TRICARE pharmacy program provides beneficiaries with access to certain specialty drugs—such as high-cost medications—used to treat chronic conditions that can be more difficult to distribute and administer. DHA maintains a list of covered specialty drugs and updates that list to reflect programmatic and market changes. Coinciding with the start of pharmacy services under the TRICARE Pharmacy Services, Fifth Generation contract in January 2023, DHA increased the number of drugs on its specialty drug list by nearly 400 percent, from 246 drugs to 980 drugs. According to DHA officials, 661 of the added drugs were already covered by the TRICARE pharmacy benefit. DHA officials said that they reclassified these drugs as specialty to increase the number of drugs that can be replenished from the national prime vendor at discounted prices. As of September 2024, DHA's specialty drug list contained 1,172 drugs.

Source: GAO analysis of Defense Health Agency (DHA) interviews and documents. | GAO-25-107187

On March 1, 2024, DHA began requiring TRICARE beneficiaries, with some exceptions, to use the mail order specialty pharmacy or a military pharmacy to fill their prescriptions for certain specialty maintenance drugs—those taken for chronic or ongoing conditions.<sup>19</sup> In alignment with TPharm5 contract goals, DHA officials said they believed that requiring beneficiaries to use the mail order specialty pharmacy would help save money for military families. Specifically, with this change, more TRICARE beneficiaries could obtain their specialty drugs at the mail order copayment rate, which is 70 percent less than the retail copayment rate for a 90-day supply of drugs. For example, TRICARE beneficiaries would be required to pay \$38 for a 90-day prescription from the specialty pharmacy, compared with \$129 for the same amount of medication from a retail pharmacy. (See table 1.)

## Table 1: Potential Beneficiary Copayments for Certain Brand Name Maintenance Specialty Drugs through TRICARE Pharmacies in March 2024

Pharmacy	Days' supply per fill	Copayment	Total beneficiary copayment per 90- day supply
Network retail	Up to 30 days	\$43	\$129
Mail order, including specialty	Up to 90 days	\$38	\$38
Military	Up to 90 days	\$0	\$0

Source: GAO analysis of Defense Health Agency documents. | GAO-25-107187

Note: This table lists copayment amounts for covered brand name drugs. Active duty service members pay nothing for covered prescriptions from military pharmacies, mail order, or retail network pharmacies. TRICARE pharmacy copayment amounts are set by statute in 10 U.S.C. 1074g(a)(6)(A).

<sup>19</sup>Prior to the implementation of this requirement in March 2024, TRICARE beneficiaries had been required to refill prescriptions for certain maintenance medications from the contractor-operated mail order pharmacy or from military pharmacies as a result of the Carl Levin and Howard P. 'Buck' McKeon National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 2015. According to DHA officials, the maintenance medications affected by this requirement include both specialty and non-specialty drugs.

As of September 2024, 27 percent of the drugs on DHA's specialty drug list were certain maintenance medications. Beneficiaries taking these drugs may obtain them at a retail pharmacy for up to two 30-day fills before they are required to transfer their prescription to a military pharmacy or the specialty pharmacy. These fill limits do not apply to active duty service members, or beneficiaries with other prescription drug coverage or who live overseas. If TRICARE's specialty pharmacy is unable to fill the prescription, the beneficiary may obtain the drug through a retail pharmacy. In addition, DHA's contractor may grant a waiver enabling a beneficiary to obtain more than two fills of the specialty drug at a retail pharmacy based on personal need, hardship, emergency, or special circumstances.

DHA officials told us that requiring beneficiaries to use the specialty pharmacy for certain maintenance drugs could also provide significant cost avoidance and help save U.S. taxpayer money, another goal of the TPharm5 contract. Coinciding with the requirement to use the mail order specialty pharmacy, DHA officials reported they began using the national prime vendor to replenish the stock of government-contracted specialty drugs the specialty pharmacy dispensed via mail.<sup>20</sup> Through the national prime vendor, DHA can acquire drugs at prices substantially lower than what retail pharmacies pay.<sup>21</sup> As a result, any increase in the portion of specialty drugs dispensed by military pharmacies or the specialty pharmacy could result in savings to the program. Our analysis of contractor data indicates an immediate increase in the share of specialty drugs dispensed by the specialty pharmacy from April to June 2024, along with a decrease in the share dispensed by retail pharmacies, when compared with the last quarter of 2023. (See figure 5.)

## Figure 5: Number of 30-day Specialty Drug Prescriptions Dispensed by TRICARE Pharmacy Type by Quarter, January 2021 through September 2024



Source: GAO analysis of Defense Health Agency contractor data. | GAO-25-107187

<sup>20</sup>DHA officials reported that the agency had previously used the national prime vendor to replenish the government-contracted stock of non-specialty drugs and a limited number of specialty drugs dispensed at military pharmacies and the mail order pharmacy.

<sup>21</sup>The national prime vendor can obtain drugs at a fixed percentage discount off the lowest price otherwise available for each drug, which is generally 24 percent less than nonfederal average manufacturer prices for non-generic products. See 38 U.S.C. § 8126(a)(2).

Year	Quarter	Retail pharmacies	Military pharmacies	Contractor-operated mail order pharmacy	Preferred specialty mail order pharmacy
2021	Q1	54.325	42.391	121.179	
2021	Q2	56.331	44.209	125.478	
2021	Q3	58.542	43.8	129.976	
2021	Q4	60.866	41.438	128.575	
2022	Q1	65.94	42.861	126.042	
2022	Q2	70.935	42.304	125.969	
2022	Q3	75.634	41.948	126.604	
2022	Q4	77.827	40.251	123.219	
2023	Q1	87.009	42.386	119.84	
2023	Q2	93.405	42.06	121.44	
2023	Q3	96.552	41.682	122.366	
2023	Q4	103.382	41.424	122.177	
2024	Q1	92.87	44.762	83.537	47.665
2024	Q2	63.628	47.425	3.102	184.724
2024	Q3	57.18	48.677	2.765	194.787

Accessible Data for Figure 5: Number of 30-day Specialty Drug Prescriptions Dispensed by TRICARE Pharmacy Type by Quarter, January 2021 through September 2024

Source: GAO analysis of Defense Health Agency contractor data. I GAO-25-107187

Notes: In January 2023, the Defense Health Agency (DHA) introduced a new mail order specialty pharmacy to the TRICARE program. Specialty drug prescriptions dispensed by the specialty pharmacy from January 2023 through February 2024 are counted and displayed as retail pharmacy prescriptions. In March 2024, DHA began requiring beneficiaries to fill certain specialty drug prescriptions through the specialty pharmacy and began tracking these prescriptions separately from other types of pharmacies. Specialty drug prescriptions previously filled by the contractor-operated mail order pharmacy were administratively transferred to the specialty pharmacy in March 2024.

Prescriptions are shown as 30-day equivalent prescriptions. Dispensations for more than 30-days' worth of a drug are considered multiple prescriptions. DHA officials told GAO that in January 2023, they reclassified several hundred previously covered drugs as specialty drugs for the purpose of benefit management. Specialty prescription data from 2021 and 2022 presented here include those drugs that were later reclassified as specialty drugs.

## DHA Primarily Relies on Contractor Data to Monitor Certain Aspects of Beneficiary Access but Has Not Verified the Accuracy of These Data

DHA primarily relies on contractor data to monitor beneficiary access to the TRICARE pharmacy benefit. These data indicate that the contractor is meeting certain standards related to beneficiary access. However, we identified some weaknesses in DHA's monitoring efforts. In particular, we found that DHA 1) has not monitored the contractor's timeliness in dispensing mail order specialty drugs to beneficiaries and 2) has not verified the accuracy of the contractor data it relies on to monitor beneficiary access.

#### DHA Primarily Relies on Contractor Data to Monitor Certain Aspects of Beneficiary Access to Pharmacy Services

DHA officials told us that they primarily rely on contractor-provided data to monitor certain aspects of beneficiary access to the TRICARE pharmacy program. Specifically, to monitor beneficiary access to the retail network, DHA officials told us they review monthly reports from the contractor on the extent to which it is

meeting two standards related to 1) the size of the retail pharmacy network and 2) beneficiary proximity to a network pharmacy.

- 1. Size of the retail pharmacy network. Since January 2023, DHA has required its contractor to maintain a minimum of 35,000 retail pharmacies in the network.
- Beneficiary proximity to a network pharmacy. Since January 2023, one of DHA's proximity standards
  has required its contractor to ensure that at least a certain percentage of beneficiaries have at least one
  network pharmacy within a 15-minute drive of their home.<sup>22</sup>

Our review of these data indicates that the contractor has met DHA's network size requirement and certain proximity access standards as defined in the TPharm4 and TPharm5 contracts from January 2021 through June 2024. For example, in June 2024, contractor data indicate that there were 42,884 pharmacies in the retail network. Similarly, in June 2024, 98 percent of beneficiaries were within a 15-minute drive of at least one network pharmacy, according to contractor data. DHA officials also told us they monitor beneficiary access by reviewing beneficiary surveys, call center reports, and data on the timely delivery of mail order traditional drugs.<sup>23</sup>

To monitor beneficiary access to specialty drugs, DHA officials told us they review contractor data on beneficiary use of specialty drugs, including how many prescriptions are filled at each type of pharmacy.<sup>24</sup> The officials told us they review these data for outliers and significant changes from one reporting period to the next.

# DHA Has Not Monitored the Contractor's Timeliness in Dispensing Mail Order Specialty Drugs to Beneficiaries

According to DHA officials, the agency does not monitor beneficiaries' timely access to specialty drugs. While DHA monitors beneficiary use of specialty drugs, including the number and type of specialty drugs dispensed, agency officials told us that they do not monitor the contractor's timeliness in dispensing mail order specialty drugs, including those dispensed through its specialty pharmacy. Monitoring the contractor's timeliness in dispensing mail order specialty drugs could include reviewing data on how quickly the contractor has shipped, scheduled delivery, or denied prescriptions. DHA officials told us that the agency has not monitored the timeliness in dispensing mail order specialty drugs because they cannot measure this information.

<sup>24</sup>These data indicate that, for example, DHA's mail order specialty pharmacy filled 64 percent of beneficiaries' specialty drug prescriptions in the third quarter of 2024.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup>TPharm5 contract standards for the percentage of beneficiaries required to have a network pharmacy within a 15-minute drive of their home is proprietary. To calculate this measure, the contractor uses government-provided beneficiary zip code files and geospatial software to calculate beneficiaries' proximity to a network pharmacy. The calculation of the percentage of beneficiaries meeting this proximity standard does not include 1) pharmacies located on or affiliated with military treatment facilities, Department of Veterans Affairs, Public Health Service, or Indian Health Service facilities and 2) beneficiaries residing on military bases or who live outside the U.S. and territories.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup>DHA's monitoring of the contractor's timeliness in dispensing mail order traditional drugs includes whether the contractor has shipped, scheduled delivery, returned, placed in process, or denied all prescriptions from the time a prescription is received. DHA monitored the contractor's timeless in dispensing traditional drugs under the TPharm4 contract and continues to do so under the TPharm5 contract.

Letter

However, as previously mentioned, DHA monitors the contractor's timeliness in dispensing traditional drugs through its mail order pharmacy. In addition, the pharmacy industry monitors turnaround time for mail order specialty drugs. For example, the Utilization Review Accreditation Commission, an accreditation organization for specialty pharmacies, monitors how long it takes pharmacies to dispense mail order specialty drugs. Specialty pharmacies accredited through the Utilization Review Accreditation Commission, including DHA's specialty pharmacy, are required to report on the average number of days the organization takes to fill new mail order specialty prescriptions and refill mail order specialty prescriptions to maintain accreditation.

According to its policy, DHA should develop appropriate metrics to monitor pharmacy activities.<sup>25</sup> Instead of monitoring turnaround time of mail order specialty drugs directly, DHA officials told us that they rely on the Utilization Review Accreditation Commission's certification of the specialty pharmacy to ensure the timely delivery of mail order specialty drugs. The commission requires specialty pharmacies to provide it with timeliness data, among other things, in order to secure accreditation. However, these data are not specific to the TRICARE program. It averages the specialty pharmacy's timeliness across all lines of business and could obscure timeliness issues within the TRICARE program. Thus, it is not sufficient for monitoring the TRICARE program.

Monitoring the timeliness of the contractor in dispensing mail order specialty drugs, similar to how the agency monitors the timeliness in dispensing mail order traditional drugs, would provide DHA with critical information to assess beneficiaries' access to these medications. This is especially important given DHA's recent transition to a specialty pharmacy that beneficiaries are to use to obtain certain specialty drugs. Monitoring the contractor's timeliness in dispensing these medications could also assist DHA in pinpointing any potential problems that may occur, determine whether a performance standard is needed, and help DHA ensure that the contractor is consistently dispensing these prescriptions in a timely manner.

#### DHA Has Not Verified the Accuracy of TRICARE Pharmacy Contractor Data

While DHA relies on contractor-provided data to monitor certain aspects of beneficiary access, the agency has not verified the accuracy of these data, and our review revealed some inaccuracies.<sup>26</sup> DHA maintains a *Quality Assurance Surveillance Plan* that outlines how the agency will oversee contractor performance and deliverables. This plan states that DHA should conduct periodic audits to verify contractor data for adequacy, accuracy, and adverse performance trends to ensure pharmacy program objectives are met. However, DHA officials told us that they had not audited the contractor data the agency uses for monitoring beneficiary access to verify data accuracy because they had no concerns about data accuracy. Nevertheless, we found errors during our review of some contractor data that DHA uses to monitor beneficiary access.

Specifically, we identified errors in contractor-reported data on 1) beneficiaries' use of specialty drugs and 2) beneficiaries affected by pharmacies leaving the network. First, our review of four quarters of contractor data provided to DHA in 2023 revealed persistent inconsistencies in the total number of specialty drug prescriptions filled by pharmacy type. For example, in the first quarter of 2023, the contractor reported that just under 40,000 specialty prescriptions were filled through the mail order

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup>Department of Defense, *Procedural Instructions* 6025.08.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup>While we identified inaccuracies in some contractor data, we did not find errors in the network size or beneficiary proximity to a pharmacy data that DHA uses to monitor beneficiary access. As such, we determined that those data were sufficiently reliable to describe key changes to the TRICARE pharmacy program.

pharmacy. Corrected data the contractor later provided indicated that the actual number of prescriptions filled through the mail order pharmacy during that time was about 70,000.

Second, DHA's contractor reports on the number of beneficiaries who used a pharmacy during the 6 months prior to that pharmacy leaving the TRICARE retail network. These reports inform DHA of how and when the contractor notified beneficiaries that their pharmacy was leaving the network.<sup>27</sup> We identified 2 months of missing information on the number of beneficiaries affected by network changes from April 2024 through June 2024. During this time, roughly 200 pharmacies left the network, but DHA was not able to determine whether any beneficiaries were affected due to the missing contractor data. However, DHA officials told us that some beneficiaries were affected. Specifically, about 70 beneficiaries were not properly notified about the departure of their pharmacy from the retail network. When asked, officials told us they were unaware of the errors in these data. After we brought these errors to DHA's attention, the contractor drafted a corrective action plan to fix these errors and reissued these reports.

Periodically auditing contractor data will provide DHA with the information it needs to better ensure beneficiaries' continued access to the prescription drugs they need.

# Some Beneficiaries May Have Had to Find a New Pharmacy or Travel Farther to a Network Pharmacy

Our analysis of contractor data indicate that the reduction in the number of retail pharmacies in the TRICARE pharmacy network affected beneficiaries in two ways: 1) some beneficiaries may have had to find a new network pharmacy and 2) some beneficiaries had to travel farther to reach their nearest network pharmacy.

In October 2022, as the contractor implemented the network change and reduced the number of pharmacies in the TRICARE pharmacy network, at least 380,000 TRICARE beneficiaries, about 4 percent of eligible beneficiaries at that time, may have had to find a new network pharmacy, according to our analysis of contractor data. These beneficiaries had recently used one of the over 14,000 pharmacies that left the TRICARE network in October 2022.<sup>28</sup> Affected beneficiaries may have had to transfer their prescriptions to another network pharmacy to continue to use the TRICARE benefit.

Representatives from four beneficiary stakeholder groups we spoke with told us that beneficiaries were concerned about losing access to the pharmacies they had previously used. DHA officials told us that they believed the change in size of the retail pharmacy network amounted to a reduction in the choice of one's preferred pharmacy, not a loss of access. A representative from one beneficiary stakeholder group we spoke with agreed that, for most beneficiaries, the smaller network size was more of an inconvenience than a loss of access. However, this representative noted that beneficiaries with complex medical needs would be adversely affected if this change resulted in a loss of network capability, such as the network's ability to fill prescriptions

<sup>28</sup>Data reflect beneficiaries who had used a pharmacy up to 6 months prior to that pharmacy leaving the network.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup>DHA requires the pharmacy contractor to provide beneficiaries with 30 days written notification if a pharmacy they have used during the prior 6 months is leaving the network.

From November 2022 through January 2023, an additional 2,484 pharmacies left the TRICARE retail pharmacy network, resulting in about 300,000 beneficiaries needing to find a new pharmacy. Contractor data do not show whether some of these beneficiaries were the same as those affected in October 2022. Therefore, we are unable to determine the exact number of unique beneficiaries affected when DHA reduced the minimum required number of pharmacies.

Letter

for specialty or compound drugs that require a pharmacy to create a new formulation of a medication to fit a patient's unique circumstances. A representative from another stakeholder group said that families of children with rare or complex conditions reported losing pharmacies that were familiar with the specialized care these children needed and may struggle to rebuild relationships with new pharmacies.

As described elsewhere in this report, DHA monitors how far beneficiaries live from their closest nearby network pharmacy and sets a proximity standard for what it considers "accessible" to beneficiaries. Around the time DHA authorized the reduction in the minimum number of retail network pharmacies, the agency also changed the way it measured beneficiary access to the retail pharmacy network. Specifically, in January 2023, DHA replaced a distance-based proximity standard from the TPharm4 contract with a time-based proximity standard to measure beneficiary access in the TPharm5 contract.<sup>29</sup> DHA officials told us that the time-based standard provides a more accurate measure of how long it takes beneficiaries to reach their nearest retail network pharmacy than the distance-based standard. (See table 2.)

 Table 2: Monthly Pharmacy Network Proximity Standards in the TRICARE Pharmacy Services, Fourth (TPharm4) and Fifth (TPharm5) Generation Contracts

Distance-based proximity standard	Time-based proximity standard		
TPharm4 contract	TPharm5 contract		
May 2015 through December 2022	January 2023		
Urban beneficiaries. At least one pharmacy within 2 miles driving distance of [x] percent of beneficiaries	All beneficiaries. At least one pharmacy within a 15-minute drive of [x] percent of beneficiaries		
Suburban beneficiaries. At least one pharmacy within 5 miles driving distance of [x] percent of beneficiaries	All beneficiaries. At least two pharmacies within a [x] minute drive of [x] percent of beneficiaries		
Rural beneficiaries. At least one pharmacy within 15 miles driving distance of [x] percent of beneficiaries	All beneficiaries. At least [x] pharmacies within a 30-minute drive of [x] percent of beneficiaries		

Source: GAO analysis of Defense Health Agency (DHA) documents. | GAO-25-107187

Note: GAO masked proprietary information with [x].

Because DHA changed its proximity standards from distance-based to time-based in January 2023, we could not directly compare proximity access data between the TPharm4 and TPharm5 contract periods. To more clearly illustrate the number of beneficiaries affected by the change in the TRICARE retail pharmacy network, we requested an analysis of contractor data that applied the TPharm4 proximity standard to the TPharm5 population.

Our review of these data indicates that, in the first quarter of 2023, at least 98,000 more beneficiaries (about 1 percent of the total beneficiary population) were outside of the TPharm4 contract's distance-based standard compared with the period prior to the network changes. These beneficiaries would have had to travel farther to reach their nearest network pharmacy than they had to prior to the October 2022 retail pharmacy network change, according the TPharm4 contract's distance-based proximity standard. Specifically, in the third quarter of 2022, the quarter before the retail network change, there were about 177,000 beneficiaries outside of the TPharm4 contract's distance-based standard.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup>In addition, under the TPharm5 contract, DHA excluded roughly 1.5 million beneficiaries who lived on or near military bases in its retail pharmacy proximity standard calculations. DHA officials told us the reason for the military base exclusion is that retail pharmacies do not operate on military bases, and military pharmacies are available for beneficiaries on military bases. Beneficiaries on or near military bases can still obtain prescriptions at military, retail, or mail order pharmacies.

In the first quarter of 2023, the quarter after the retail network change, the number of beneficiaries outside of this standard increased to about 275,000 beneficiaries. According to the TPharm4 proximity standard, the number of beneficiaries without a nearby pharmacy decreased slightly over time, with about 260,000 beneficiaries without a nearby pharmacy in the first quarter of 2024. However, as mentioned earlier in this report, the contractor had met certain proximity access standards for the period of our review, January 2021 through June 2024. (See figure 6.)

## Figure 6: Average Number of Beneficiaries Outside of DHA's Distance-Based Retail Network Proximity Standard by Quarter, January 2021 through March 2024



According to TPharm4 proximity standards

Source: GAO analysis of Defense Health Agency contractor data. | GAO-25-107187

## Accessible Data for Figure 6: Average Number of Beneficiaries Outside of DHA's Distance-Based Retail Network Proximity Standard by Quarter, January 2021 through March 2024

Category	Year	Quarter	Number of beneficiaries (in thousands)
TRICARE Pharmacy Services, Fourth Generation (TPharm4) contract period	2021	Q1	172.421
TRICARE Pharmacy Services, Fourth Generation (TPharm4) contract period	2021	Q2	171.571
RICARE Pharmacy Services, Fourth Generation TPharm4) contract period	2021	Q3	171.229
RICARE Pharmacy Services, Fourth Generation TPharm4) contract period	2021	Q4	171.71
TRICARE Pharmacy Services, Fourth Generation TPharm4) contract period	2022	Q1	173.025
TRICARE Pharmacy Services, Fourth Generation TPharm4) contract period	2022	Q2	176.365
TRICARE Pharmacy Services, Fourth Generation TPharm4) contract period	2022	Q3	177.745
RICARE Pharmacy Services, Fourth Generation TPharm4) contract period	2022	Q4	224.196
TRICARE Pharmacy Services, Fifth Generation TPharm5) contract period	2023	Q1	276.209
TRICARE Pharmacy Services, Fifth Generation TPharm5) contract period	2023	Q2	269.493
TRICARE Pharmacy Services, Fifth Generation TPharm5) contract period	2023	Q3	263.955
RICARE Pharmacy Services, Fifth Generation TPharm5) contract period	2023	Q4	261.735
RICARE Pharmacy Services, Fifth Generation TPharm5) contract period	2024	Q1	259.846

Source: GAO analysis of Defense Health Agency contractor data. I GA0-25-107187

Note: In the TPharm4 contract, which delivered pharmacy services from May 2015 through December 2022, the Defense Health Agency (DHA) used distance-based driving standards to measure beneficiaries' access to retail pharmacies. This proximity standard varied based on whether a beneficiary lived in an urban (2 miles), suburban (5 miles) or rural (15 miles) area. At GAO's request, DHA's contractor applied the TPharm4 proximity standard to the TPharm5 population to more clearly show the number of beneficiaries affected by the change in the TRICARE retail pharmacy network in October 2022. Despite these changes, the contractor has met certain network proximity standards for the entire time.

### Conclusions

While the pharmacy market continues to evolve and drugs costs increase, DHA's mission to provide beneficiaries access to prescription drugs remains the same. With the TPharm5 contract, DHA made two key changes to the pharmacy benefit with the goal of improving service for beneficiaries and saving money for military families and taxpayers. While DHA monitors certain aspects of beneficiary access to pharmacy services, this monitoring needs to be strengthened. Our review found that DHA is not monitoring the contractor's timeliness in dispensing mail order specialty drugs, which are crucial for maintaining the health of beneficiaries with chronic conditions. In addition, DHA is not verifying the accuracy of the contractor data it relies on to ensure beneficiary access to pharmacy services, as required by its Quality Assurance Surveillance Plan. By addressing these gaps in its monitoring of beneficiary access, particularly as it relates to key changes implemented, DHA can better ensure that it is meeting the goals of its program and providing beneficiaries access to the prescription drugs they need. Enhanced monitoring could also assist DHA in determining whether any performance standards to ensure beneficiary access are needed and how to establish them.

#### **Recommendations for Executive Action**

We are making the following two recommendations to DHA:

The Director of the Defense Health Agency should monitor the contractor's timeliness in dispensing mail order specialty drugs. (Recommendation 1)

The Director of the Defense Health Agency should periodically audit TRICARE pharmacy program contractorreported data for accuracy, as required by *DHA's Quality Assurance Surveillance Plan*. (Recommendation 2)

## Agency Comments and Our Evaluation

We provided DOD with a draft of this report for review and comment. In its written response, which is reprinted in appendix II, DOD partially concurred with our first recommendation and concurred with our second recommendation. The department also provided technical comments, which we incorporated as appropriate.

Regarding our first recommendation, DOD agreed that it was necessary to monitor the contractor's timeliness in dispensing mail order specialty drugs. To do so, DOD noted that it will develop and implement requirements for the contractor to report turnaround time data and will routinely monitor its performance.

The first recommendation in our draft report also directed DOD to establish a performance standard for the contractor's timeliness in dispensing mail order specialty drugs. DOD did not concur with this aspect of the recommendation, and in its comments, provided information about challenges related to implementing such a performance standard. For example, DOD commented that it had not determined how to assess the contractor's timeliness in dispensing mail order specialty drugs because of a variety of factors that make establishing standards difficult, including that many such prescriptions require multiple interventions prior to dispensing medication, and that these prescriptions are often dispensed at irregular intervals.

We acknowledge that the development of such a standard would be difficult given the complexity of specialty drug prescriptions. We therefore clarified our recommendation to focus on monitoring the timeliness of

specialty drugs dispensed by mail order. This monitoring would allow DOD to determine whether a performance standard would be appropriate or warranted.

Regarding our second recommendation that DOD periodically audit contractor-reported data for accuracy, DOD concurred, noting that it plans to place additional emphasis on validating contractor-reported data, which will include periodic audits.

We are sending copies of this report to the appropriate congressional committees and the Secretary of Defense. In addition, the report is available at no charge on the GAO website at https://www.gao.gov.

If you or your staff have any questions about this report, please contact me at (202) 512-7114 or SilasS@gao.gov. Contact points for our Offices of Congressional Relations and Public Affairs may be found on the last page of this report. GAO staff who made key contributions to this report are listed in appendix III.

× . \_

Sharon M. Silas Director, Health Care

# Appendix I: Other Changes to the TRICARE Pharmacy Program

Our review of the TRICARE pharmacy program between January 1, 2021, and June 30, 2024, identified some changes that did not directly affect beneficiaries' ability to obtain prescription drugs in a timely manner. Examples of selected changes are described below.

**Formulary.** The Defense Health Agency (DHA) maintains a formulary of prescription drugs that are covered by the TRICARE pharmacy program. DHA's Pharmacy and Therapeutics Committee develops and maintains this formulary by evaluating new drugs that come to market and reevaluating existing drugs. In fiscal year 2021, there were 650 drugs on DHA's basic core formulary, the list of drugs military pharmacies were required to have in stock. DHA officials reported that, as of July 2023, the basic core formulary had been superseded by a new policy, which established the Uniform Formulary as the formulary for military pharmacies. In October 2024, the Uniform Formulary included 4,419 drugs, although military pharmacies were not required to keep all of these drugs in stock at all times.

DHA officials told us that the TRICARE formulary is constantly changing to reflect new information on the efficacy and safety of drugs. For example, in May 2024, the Pharmacy and Therapeutics Committee recommended adding 10 drugs to the formulary that had been newly approved by the Food and Drug Administration, such as a new treatment to reduce the risk of relapse of certain cancers. In addition, in November 2023, the committee recommended removing the brand name drug Lodoco, indicated for the prevention of stroke and certain heart conditions, from the TRICARE formulary because it determined that the drug had little to no clinical benefit compared with its generic equivalent that is just as effective and costs less.

**Copayment.** A copayment is an amount beneficiaries must pay to fill a prescription. TRICARE pharmacy copayments are established by law and have tended to increase every few years. Copayments vary by how a drug is categorized in the formulary, type of pharmacy beneficiaries use to obtain their prescriptions, and active duty status. (See table 3.)

Pharmacy	Type of prescription <sup>a</sup> : Generic formulary <sup>b</sup>	Type of prescription <sup>a</sup> : Brand-name formulary <sup>b</sup> copayment	Type of prescription <sup>a</sup> : Non-formulary <sup>a</sup> copayment	Type of prescription <sup>a</sup> : Non-covered drugs copayment <sup>e</sup>	
Military <sup>c</sup>	\$0	\$0	\$0	Not available	
Mail order <sup>c</sup>	\$13	\$38	\$76	Not available	
Network retaild	\$16	\$43	\$76	Full cost of drug	

Source: Defense Health Agency documents and 10 U.S.C. § 1074g(a)(6). | GAO-25-107187

Note: Active-duty service members have no pharmacy copayments for covered drugs when using military pharmacies, retail, or mail order pharmacies.

<sup>a</sup>TRICARE offers formulary and non-formulary drugs. Formulary drugs are those on Defense Health Agency's list of covered drugs. Non-formulary drugs can be obtained at formulary drug costs if medical necessity is established by the provider.

<sup>b</sup>A brand-name drug is a drug marketed under a proprietary, trademark-protected name. After any patent and market exclusivity for the brand-name drug expires, other drug companies may develop a generic equivalent, a similar drug that has the same active ingredient, strength, dosage form, route of administration, and intended use.

<sup>c</sup>Prescriptions filled at a military pharmacy or through TRICARE mail order pharmacies are limited to a 90-day supply.

<sup>d</sup>Beneficiaries may obtain up to a 90-day supply with multiple copayments (1 per 30 days) at a retail pharmacy, although some prescriptions may be subject to quantity limits. After two courtesy fills of certain maintenance drug at a retail pharmacy, beneficiaries except active-duty service members must obtain refills for select brand-name maintenance drugs through military or mail order pharmacies.

<sup>e</sup>Drugs that are not covered by the TRICARE pharmacy benefit.

**Utilization management.** DHA uses these practices to help ensure that the use of drugs and other medical services is based on medical necessity, efficacy, and appropriateness. DHA made some utilization management changes during our review period, including prior authorization. In certain instances, DHA requires beneficiaries to obtain approval, referred to as a prior authorization, for a drug to ensure coverage. In the TRICARE Pharmacy Services, Fifth Generation (TPharm5) contract, DHA expanded its monitoring of the contractor's administration of prior authorizations. Under TPharm5, the number of prior authorizations conducted initially increased. According to DHA officials, multiple factors drove this increase, including the transition to a new electronic health record system with centralized prior authorization reporting processes and the increase in coverage of drugs that may require prior authorization (e.g., specialty drugs, continuous glucose monitoring devices, and weight loss drugs).

Administration. DHA made some changes to how its contractor administers the TRICARE program. DHA has required that network pharmacies be fully licensed in accordance with applicable federal and state laws. In the TPharm5 contract, DHA allows its contractor to remove a pharmacy from the TRICARE retail network without providing advance notice to the government or beneficiaries if that pharmacy fails to meet required credentialing standards. The contractor must eventually notify the government and beneficiaries within 14 days of this change.

**Reporting.** DHA requires its contractor to report on aspects of the pharmacy program. In the TPharm5 contract, DHA added a requirement that its contractor is to submit an annual plan describing how beneficiaries outside of access standards can access pharmacy services.

**Beneficiary services.** DHA's pharmacy contractor is required to provide beneficiaries a range of services as part of the TRICARE pharmacy program. In the TPharm5 contract, DHA added a clause that its mail order pharmacy contractor is to provide beneficiaries with delivery management services to include timely delivery of drugs to align with treatment schedules and delivery tracking.

# Appendix II: Comments from the Department of Defense



**DEFENSE HEALTH AGENCY** 7700 ARLINGTON BOULEVARD, SUITE 5101 FALLS CHURCH, VIRGINIA 22042-5101

Ms. Sharon M. Silas Director, Health Care U.S. Government Accountability Office 441 G Street, NW Washington DC 20548

Dear Ms. Silas:

The Department of Defense response to the recommendations from the draft Government

Accountability Office (GAO) Report 25-107187, "Defense Health Care: DoD Should Improve

Monitoring of TRICARE Beneficiaries' Access to Prescription Drugs," dated December 4, 2024,

(GAO Code 107187) is enclosed.

My point of contact is Mr. Edward Norton, Pharmacy Operations Division Chief, who

may be reached at edward.c.norton2.civ@health.mil or at (703) 681-2890.

Sincerely,

CROSLAND.TEL Digitally signed by CROSLAND.TELL CROSLAND.TELTA 1017383040 ITA.1017383040 TELITA CROSLAND LTG, USA Director

Enclosure: As stated



Additionally, some specialty medications may not be required immediately at the time they are prescribed. The TRICARE mail order specialty pharmacies reach out to beneficiaries upon receipt of a new prescription and determine when the beneficiary needs the medication. The prescription is then placed on the beneficiary's account in a pended status until it is required. TRICARE mail order specialty pharmacies utilize expedited shipping services to deliver the medication. Beneficiaries are alerted when a prescription is shipped, and they can track delivery of the medication.

Timeliness standards for specialty prescriptions dispensed from the mail-order pharmacy are not recommended based on the following rationale:

- Unique therapeutic conditions may require prescriptions at pre-determined intervals or at dates, which may not align with a mandatory turnaround time measurement.
- Adding timeliness standards for specialty medications may require the pharmacy to introduce restrictive timelines for completing each step in the process of dispensing the prescription.
- Prescriptions exceeding the time limit for any step in the fulfillment process are likely to be cancelled, which would cause additional delays to the beneficiary receiving their vital medication.

Therefore, DoD does not agree with establishing timeliness standards for specialty medications since these medications continue to increase in complexity, and the average time for dispensing is not consistent due to these complexities.

However, the DoD agrees it is necessary to monitor the contractor's performance regularly against the standard. The DoD will develop and implement requirements for the contractor to report turnaround time metrics, similar to what is being reported to URAC, on a quarterly basis. The DoD will use the annual URAC Specialty Pharmacy Aggregate Summary Reports as a comparator to determine how well the contractor performs to industry standards.

**RECOMMENDATION 2:** The Director, DHA should periodically audit TRICARE pharmacy program contractor-reported data for accuracy, as required by DHA's *Quality Assurance Surveillance Plan*.

#### DoD RESPONSE: Concur.

Given the broad scope of the TRICARE pharmacy contract and resource constraints, all potential audits of contractor-provided data are identified and prioritized over the duration of the contract. When identifying areas to audit, several factors influence this prioritization of audits, including resources needed to support the audit and the performance risk both to the Government and beneficiaries.

Since the TRICARE Pharmacy Fifth Generation (TPharm5) contract began performance on January 1, 2023, DoD has conducted various audits, such as compound dispensing, the beneficiary call center, performance guarantees related to clinical outcomes, and two different audits of clinical reviews. In addition to audits, the DoD performs a range of validation and oversight activities related to contract surveillance of both clinical and operational aspects of the TPharm5 contract. This includes reviewing weekly, monthly, quarterly, and annual deliverables

2

and performance metrics as well as beneficiary survey results. DoD also conducts various recurring and ad hoc meetings with the pharmacy contractor on specific focus areas related to contract performance to ensure requirements are being met. DoD acknowledges the errors in contractor-reported data identified by the GAO during this engagement. In addition to reviewing all contract data requirements lists through the contractor's corrective action plan, DoD is placing additional emphasis on validating contractor-reported data, which will include periodic audits. DoD identified additional areas to prioritize for future audits, to include beneficiary access reports. DoD will continue to review audit priorities and adjust audit schedules based on findings from contract monitoring activities described in the Quality Assurance Surveillance Plan. 3

# Accessible Text for Appendix II: Comments from the Department of Defense

DEFENSE HEALTH AGENCY 7700 ARLINGTON BOULEVARD, SUITE 5101 FALLS CHURCH, VIRGINIA 22042-5101

Ms. Sharon M. Silas Director, Health Care U.S. Government Accountability Office 441 G Street, NW Washington DC 20548

Dear Ms. Silas:

The Department of Defense response to the recommendations from the draft Government Accountability Office (GAO) Report 25-107187, "Defense Health Care: DoD Should Improve Monitoring of TRICARE Beneficiaries' Access to Prescription Drugs," dated December 4, 2024, (GAO Code 107187) is enclosed.

My point of contact is Mr. Edward Norton, Pharmacy Operations Division Chief, who may be reached at edward.c.norton2.civ@health.mil or at (703) 681-2890.

Sincerely,

CROSLAND.TEL ITA.1017383040

Digitally signed by CROSLAND.TELITA.1017383040 Date: 2025.01.07 09:39:14 -05'00'

TELITA CROSLAND LTG, USA Director

Enclosure: As stated

#### GAO DRAFT REPORT DATED DECEMBER 4, 2024 GAO-25-107187 (GAO CODE 107187)

"DEFENSE HEALTH CARE: DOD SHOULD IMPROVE MONITORING OF TRICARE BENEFICIARIES' ACCESS TO PRESCRIPTION DRUGS"

DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE COMMENTS TO THE GAO RECOMMENDATIONS

RECOMMENDATION 1: The Director of the Defense Health Agency (DHA) should contractually establish timeliness standard(s) for mail order specialty drugs and regularly monitor contractor performance against the standard(s).

#### DoD RESPONSE: Partially concur.

The DoD agrees that specialty mail order drugs should be monitored for timeliness. However, DoD does not agree with establishing a TRICARE timeliness standard for specialty mail order drug fulfillment.

The TRICARE mail order specialty pharmacies that dispense specialty medications and provide supportive clinical services to TRICARE beneficiaries are accredited by the Utilization Review Accreditation Commission (URAC). URAC is a nonprofit accreditation organization that requires annual reporting of mandatory measures for pharmacies to maintain their accreditation. The aggregate data from all pharmacies seeking to maintain URAC accreditation is reported annually for industry-wide comparison. These measures include call center performance, distribution accuracy, dispensing accuracy, and prescription turnaround time<sup>1</sup>. URAC's measurement for prescription turnaround time includes three parts:

- Turnaround time for clean prescriptions, which require no intervention.
- Turnaround time for prescriptions requiring intervention.
- Turnaround time for all prescriptions filled during the measurement year.

Based on the URAC Specialty Pharmacy Aggregate Summary Performance Report for 2021 through 2023, the average time to fill a specialty prescription has increased year over year (as seen in the table below), due to increased complexity of specialty space and the number of interventions required prior to dispensing these medications.

Calendar year	Number of pharmacies	Total prescription turnaround times	Clean prescriptions (new)	Clean prescriptions (refills)	Requiring intervention (new)	Requiring intervention (refills)
2021 <sup>2</sup>	274	3.99 Days	4.66 Days	2.06 Days	5.72 Days	4.26 Days
2022 <sup>3</sup>	343	5.78 Days	3.66 Days	2.38 Days	10.75 Days	2.77 Days
2023 <sup>4</sup>	365	6.22 Days	4.37 Days	2.56 Days	12.23 Days	4.37 Days

#### Aggregate Turnaround Time for Specialty Prescriptions (Report by URAC)

<sup>1</sup> Specialty Pharmacy Accreditation Program & Standards | URAC

- <sup>2</sup> 2021\_Specialty\_Pharmacy\_Aggregate\_Report-1.pdf
- <sup>3</sup> 2022\_URAC\_Specialty-Pharmacy\_Aggregate-Summary-Report.pdf

<sup>4</sup> URAC Specialty-Pharmacy\_Aggregate-Summary-Report\_2023\_FINAL.pdf

Additionally, some specialty medications may not be required immediately at the time they are prescribed. The TRICARE mail order specialty pharmacies reach out to beneficiaries upon receipt of a new prescription and determine when the beneficiary needs the medication. The prescription is then placed on the beneficiary's account in a pended status until it is required. TRICARE mail order specialty pharmacies utilize expedited shipping services to deliver the medication. Beneficiaries are alerted when a prescription is shipped, and they can track delivery of the medication.

Timeliness standards for specialty prescriptions dispensed from the mail-order pharmacy are not recommended based on the following rationale:

- Unique therapeutic conditions may require prescriptions at pre-determined intervals or at dates, which may not align with a mandatory turnaround time measurement.
- Adding timeliness standards for specialty medications may require the pharmacy to introduce restrictive timelines for completing each step in the process of dispensing the prescription.
- Prescriptions exceeding the time limit for any step in the fulfillment process are likely to be cancelled, which would cause additional delays to the beneficiary receiving their vital medication.

Therefore, DoD does not agree with establishing timeliness standards for specialty medications since these medications continue to increase in complexity, and the average time for dispensing is not consistent due to these complexities.

However, the DoD agrees it is necessary to monitor the contractor's performance regularly against the standard. The DoD will develop and implement requirements for the contractor to report turnaround time metrics, similar to what is being reported to URAC, on a quarterly basis. The DoD will use the annual URAC Specialty Pharmacy Aggregate Summary Reports as a comparator to determine how well the contractor performs to industry standards.

RECOMMENDATION 2: The Director, DHA should periodically audit TRICARE pharmacy program contractorreported data for accuracy, as required by DHA's Quality Assurance Surveillance Plan.

#### DoD RESPONSE: Concur.

Given the broad scope of the TRICARE pharmacy contract and resource constraints, all potential audits of contractor-provided data are identified and prioritized over the duration of the contract. When identifying areas to audit, several factors influence this prioritization of audits, including resources needed to support the audit and the performance risk both to the Government and beneficiaries.

Since the TRICARE Pharmacy Fifth Generation (TPharm5) contract began performance on January 1, 2023, DoD has conducted various audits, such as compound dispensing, the beneficiary call center, performance guarantees related to clinical outcomes, and two different audits of clinical reviews. In addition to audits, the DoD performs a range of validation and oversight activities related to contract surveillance of both clinical and operational aspects of the TPharm5 contract. This includes reviewing weekly, monthly, quarterly, and annual deliverables and performance metrics as well as beneficiary survey results. DoD also conducts various recurring and ad hoc meetings with the pharmacy contractor on specific focus areas related to contract performance to ensure requirements are being met.

DoD acknowledges the errors in contractor-reported data identified by the GAO during this engagement. In addition to reviewing all contract data requirements lists through the contractor's corrective action plan, DoD is placing additional emphasis on validating contractor- reported data, which will include periodic audits. DoD identified additional areas to prioritize for future audits, to include beneficiary access reports. DoD will continue to review audit priorities and adjust audit schedules based on findings from contract monitoring activities described in the Quality Assurance Surveillance Plan.

# Appendix III: GAO Contact & Staff Acknowledgments

### **GAO** Contacts

Sharon M. Silas, (202) 512-7114, SilasS@gao.gov

#### Staff Acknowledgments

In addition to the contact named above, Patricia Roy (Assistant Director), Kelly Turner (Analyst-in-Charge), Ángela González Yanes, and Dan Sosa made key contributions to this report. Also contributing were Ying Hu, Deborah Healy, Jacquelyn Hamilton, Teague Lyons, and Roxanna Sun.

#### GAO's Mission

The Government Accountability Office, the audit, evaluation, and investigative arm of Congress, exists to support Congress in meeting its constitutional responsibilities and to help improve the performance and accountability of the federal government for the American people. GAO examines the use of public funds; evaluates federal programs and policies; and provides analyses, recommendations, and other assistance to help Congress make informed oversight, policy, and funding decisions. GAO's commitment to good government is reflected in its core values of accountability, integrity, and reliability.

### Obtaining Copies of GAO Reports and Testimony

The fastest and easiest way to obtain copies of GAO documents at no cost is through our website. Each weekday afternoon, GAO posts on its website newly released reports, testimony, and correspondence. You can also subscribe to GAO's email updates to receive notification of newly posted products.

#### Order by Phone

The price of each GAO publication reflects GAO's actual cost of production and distribution and depends on the number of pages in the publication and whether the publication is printed in color or black and white. Pricing and ordering information is posted on GAO's website, https://www.gao.gov/ordering.htm.

Place orders by calling (202) 512-6000, toll free (866) 801-7077, or TDD (202) 512-2537.

Orders may be paid for using American Express, Discover Card, MasterCard, Visa, check, or money order. Call for additional information.

#### Connect with GAO

Connect with GAO on Facebook, Flickr, X, and YouTube. Subscribe to our RSS Feeds or Email Updates. Listen to our Podcasts. Visit GAO on the web at https://www.gao.gov.

#### To Report Fraud, Waste, and Abuse in Federal Programs

Contact FraudNet:

Website: https://www.gao.gov/about/what-gao-does/fraudnet

Automated answering system: (800) 424-5454 or (202) 512-7700

#### **Congressional Relations**

A. Nicole Clowers, Managing Director, ClowersA@gao.gov, (202) 512-4400, U.S. Government Accountability Office, 441 G Street NW, Room 7125, Washington, DC 20548

#### **Public Affairs**

Sarah Kaczmarek, Managing Director, KaczmarekS@gao.gov, (202) 512-4800, U.S. Government Accountability Office, 441 G Street NW, Room 7149 Washington, DC 20548

## Strategic Planning and External Liaison

Stephen J. Sanford, Managing Director, <a href="mailto:spel@gao.gov">spel@gao.gov</a>, (202) 512-4707 U.S. Government Accountability Office, 441 G Street NW, Room 7814, Washington, DC 20548